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Notice of unaudited sections in the Combined Management
Report of United Internet AG for the Company and the Group
as of December 31, 2019

In addition to regular management report disclosures, it is possible that reporting may also include
non-management report-related disclosures (those not required by law) which are not subject to a
substantive audit by the auditor. Moreover, certain information may not be verifiable by the auditor:
such “non-auditable information” cannot be assessed by the auditor due to the nature of the
disclosures or the absence of suitable criteria.

In the Combined Management Report of United Internet AG for the Company and the Group, the
following chapters or disclosures were identified as “non-audited management report disclosures”:

m The disclosures made in the subsection “1.4 Research and development” are “non-audited
management report disclosures”, as the content of "non-management report-related disclosures”
is not audited.

m The “quarterly development” tables contained in the subsections “2.2 Business development” and
"2.3 Position of the Group” with key financial figures on a quarterly basis for the segments and the
Group are “non-audited management report disclosures” as United Internet does not subject its
Interim Financial Statements to a review or audit.

m The disclosures made about “Green IT” and “Social responsibility” in the subsection
"2.4 Significant non-financial performance indicators” are “non-audited management report
disclosures” as the content of “non-management report-related disclosures” is not audited.

m The disclosures made in chapter 7. Declaration on Company Management/Corporate Governance
Report” are “non-audited management report disclosures” as an audit of the disclosures
contained in the Declaration on Company Management in accordance with section 317 (2)
sentence 6 HGB is limited to the fact that the information has been provided and the Corporate
Governance Report in chapter 7 constitutes a "non-management report-related disclosure” which
is not subject to a substantive audit.



1. GROUP AND COMPANY PROFILE
1.1 Business model

Group structure

Founded in 1998 and based in Montabaur, Germany, United Internet AG is the parent company
(hereinafter also referred to as “the Company”) of the United Internet Group.

Together with its service company United Internet Corporate Services GmbH, United Internet AG
focuses mainly on centralized functions such as Finance, Corporate Controlling & Accounting, Tax,
Investment Management, Press Relations, Investor Relations, Legal, Corporate Governance,
Compliance & Sustainability, Risk Management, Corporate Audit, HR Management, Facility
Management, Procurement, and Corporate IT.

Compared to the previous year, there were only minor changes in the Group structure as of December
31, 2019.

Operating activities in the Consumer Access segment are mainly managed by the companies Drillisch
Online GmbH and 1&1 Telecom GmbH - under the umbrella of 1&1 Drillisch AG.

In its Business Access segment, United Internet mainly operates via 1&1 Versatel GmbH - held by
United Internet Service Holding GmbH.

Operating activities in the Consumer Applications segment are primarily managed via the companies
1&1 De-Mail GmbH, 1&1 Mail & Media GmbH and United Internet Media GmbH - pooled together under
1&1 Mail & Media Applications SE.

In its Business Applications segment, United Internet is primarily active via Strato AG and its
subsidiary Cronon GmbH (formerly: Cronon AG) - held by the holding companies 1&1 IONOS TopCo SE
(formerly: 1&1 Internet TopCo SE) and 1&1 IONOS Holding SE (formerly: 1&1 Internet Holding SE) - as
well as via 1&1 IONOS SE and its main domestic and foreign subsidiaries. These include - in addition to
the foreign subsidiaries 1&1 IONOS Inc. (USA), 1&1 IONOS Ltd. (formerly: 1&1 Internet Ltd., UK),

1&1 IONOS S.A.R.L. (formerly: 1&1 Internet S.A.R.L., France), and 1&1I0ONOS Espafa S.L.U. (formerly:
1&1 Internet Espafia S.L.U., Spain) - in particular Arsys Internet S.L.U. (Spain), Fasthosts Internet Ltd.
(UK), home.pl S.A. (Poland), InterNetX GmbH, Sedo GmbH, united-domains AG, and World4You
Internet Services GmbH (Austria).

In addition to these operative and fully consolidated subsidiaries, United Internet held a number of
other investments as of December 31, 2019.

These mainly consist of equity interests - held by United Internet Investments Holding AG & Co. KG -
in the listed company Tele Columbus AG, Berlin (29.90%), as well as investments in the strategic
partners ePages GmbH, Hamburg (25.01%), Open-Xchange AG, Cologne (25.39%), rankingCoach
International GmbH, Cologne (30.70%), and uberall GmbH, Berlin (27.42%). In addition, United
Internet holds shares in AWIN AG, Berlin (20.00%), via 1&1 Mail & Media Applications SE - following
the contribution of affilinet to AWIN in 2017.

Further details on these investments and changes in investments are provided in section 2.2
“Business development” under “Group investments”.



A simplified illustration of the Group structure of United Internet with its significant operating
subsidiaries and investments - as of December 31, 2019 - is shown in the following chart.
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Business operations

With 24.74 million fee-based customer contracts (prior year: 23.85 million) and 37.59 million ad-
financed free accounts (prior year: 37.00 million), United Internet is a leading European internet
specialist.

The Group’s operating business is divided into the two business divisions “"Access” and
“Applications”, which in turn are divided into the reporting segments "Consumer Access” and
“Business Access”, as well as "Consumer Applications” and “Business Applications”.

The Access division, with its two segments Consumer Access and Business Access, comprises United
Internet’s fee-based access products for its consumer and business customers. In its consumer
business, these include broadband and mobile access products with the respective applications
(such as home networks, online storage, telephony, video-on-demand, or IPTV), while the business
segment offers data and network solutions for small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), as well as
infrastructure services for large corporations.

With a current length of around 48,500 km, United Internet operates one of Germany’s largest fiber-
optic networks. Moreover, the Company - indirectly via 1&1 Drillisch AG, acquired in 2017 - is the only
MBA MVNO in Germany with long-term rights to a share of up to 30% of the used network capacity of
Teleféonica Germany and thus extensive access to one of Germany’s largest mobile networks. In the
fiscal year 2019, United Internet also successfully participated in the 5G spectrum auction and
purchased two frequency blocks of 2 x 5 MHz in the 2 GHz band and five frequency blocks of 10 MHz
in the 3.6 GHz band. By acquiring these frequencies, the foundation was laid for the development of
the Company’s own powerful mobile communications network. In addition to its own landline
network and privileged access to the Teleféonica network, the Company also purchases standardized
network services from various pre-service providers. These wholesale services are enhanced with
end-user devices, self-developed applications and services from the Company’s own “Internet
Factory” in order to differentiate them from the competition.

In its Access division, United Internet operates exclusively in Germany, where it is one of the leading
providers - based on customer contracts and sales revenues.

Access products are marketed via well-known brands, such as 1&1, or discount brands, such as
yourfone and smartmobile.de, which enable the Company to offer a comprehensive range of
products while also targeting specific customer groups.

The Applications division, with its two segments Consumer Applications and Business Applications,
comprises ad-financed and fee-based application products for consumer and business customers.
These applications include domains, home pages, web hosting, servers and e-shops, Personal
Information Management applications (e-mail, to-do lists, appointments, addresses), group work,
online storage, and office software.

The applications are developed at the Company’s own “Internet Factory”, or in cooperation with
partner firms, and operated on around 90,000 servers at the Company’s 10 data centers.



In its Applications division, United Internet is also a leading global player - based on domains,
customer contracts, and sales revenues- with activities in Europe (Germany, France, the UK, Italy,
the Netherlands, Austria, Poland, Switzerland, and Spain) and North America (Canada, Mexico, and
the USA).

Applications are marketed to specific home-user and business-user target groups via the differently
positioned brands GMX, mail.com, WEB.DE, IONOS, Arsys, Fasthosts, home.pl, InterNetX, Strato,
united-domains, and World4You. Via the Sedo brand, United Internet also offers customers
professional services in the field of active domain management. Free apps are monetized via
advertising run by United Internet Media.

Divisions, segments and brands (as of: December 31, 2019)
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Management

The Management Board of United Internet AG comprised the following 2 members in fiscal year 2019:

m Ralph Dommermuth, founder and Chief Executive Officer
(with the Company since 1988)

m Frank Krause, Chief Financial Officer
(with the Company since 2015)

As in the previous year, the Supervisory Board of United Internet AG elected by the Annual
Shareholders' Meeting 2015 comprised the following three members in fiscal year 2019:

m Kurt Dobitsch, chair
m Michael Scheeren, deputy chair

m Kai-Uwe Ricke

Main markets and competition

Germany is the most important sales market of the United Internet Group by far and accounted for
almost 92% of total global sales in the fiscal year 2019.

Besides Germany, the Group’s most important sales markets are
m the UK,

m the USA,

m Spain,

m France,

m Poland and

m Austria.

Following the merger with Drillisch (now 1&1 Drillisch) in 2017, United Internet is the fourth force in
Germany’s telecommunications market with landline and mobile products in its purely domestic
Consumer Access segment - based on customer contracts, sales revenues and profitability - after
Deutsche Telekom, Vodafone and Telefénica Germany.



United Internet is also a leading company its Business Access segment, whose operations are also
limited to Germany. With the fiber-optic network of 1&1 Versatel spanning approximately 48,500 km,
United Internet operates one of Germany’s largest fiber-optic networks.

In its Consumer Applications segment, United Internet operates in Germany, Switzerland, and Austria
via the GMX and WEB.DE brands, as well as in countries such as the USA, UK, France, and Spain via
the international brand mail.com. United Internet is the leading provider of e-mail services and one
of the leaders in cloud services in its domestic German market - based on the number of users.

In the globally aligned Business Applications segment, United Internet is active in a total of

12 countries with its hosting and cloud applications. The Company has long been the market leader
in Germany - based on the number of managed country domains - and strengthened its position in
2017 with the takeover of its competitor Strato. In other European countries, United Internet’s
hosting and cloud applications are now available in all major markets - either locally or from
Germany. In addition to the domestic German market, these mainly include the major European
economies of France, the UK, Italy, Poland, and Spain. With the exception of Italy, the Company is
among the market leaders in the aforementioned countries. All in all, therefore, United Internet is
also one of the leading European suppliers of hosting and cloud applications - based on the number
of managed country domains. Further target markets outside Europe are the North American
countries Canada, USA, and Mexico. In the most important of these markets, the USA, United Internet
is also one of the leading players in this segment - based on the number of managed country
domains. From a global perspective, United Internet is thus one of the leading companies for hosting
and cloud applications.



Main locations

As of December 31, 2019, the United Internet Group employed a total of 9,374 people at over

30 domestic and foreign facilities.

Main locations (by headcount; > 50 employees)

Location

Segment

Main Company

Montabaur (HQ)

Corporate functions

United Internet

Consumer Access

1&1 Telecommunication

Karlsruhe Corporate functions United Internet
Consumer Access 1&1 Telecommunication
Consumer Applications 1&1 Mail & Media Applications
Business Applications 1&1 IONOS

Berlin Consumer Access 1&1 Telecommunication

Business Access

1&1 Versatel

Business Applications

1&110NOS, Strato

Zweibriicken

Consumer Access

1&1 Telecommunication

Business Applications 1&1IONOS
Cebu City (Philippines) Business Applications 1&1 IONOS
Munich Consumer Access 1&1 Drillisch

Consumer Applications

1&1 Mail & Media Applications

Madrid / Logrofio (Spain)

Business Applications

1&1 IONOS, Arsys

Stettin (Poland)

Business Applications

home.pl

Flensburg Business Access 1&1 Versatel
Disseldorf Business Access 1&1 Versatel
Krefeld Consumer Access 1&1 Drillisch

Gloucester (UK)

Business Applications

1&1 IONOS, Fasthosts

Dortmund Business Access 1&1 Versatel
Bucharest (Romania) Business Applications 1&1 IONOS
Maintal Consumer Access 1&1 Drillisch
Essen Business Access 1&1 Versatel
Chesterbrook / Lenexa (USA) Business Access 1&1 IONOS
Regensburg Business Applications InterNetX
Stuttgart Business Access 1&1 Versatel
Cologne Business Applications Sedo

Starnberg

Business Applications

united-domains




1.2 Strategy

United Internet’s business model is based predominantly on customer contracts (electronic
subscriptions) with fixed monthly amounts and contractually agreed terms. Such a business model
ensures generally stable and plannable revenue and cash flows, protects against macroeconomic
effects, and provides the financial scope to grasp opportunities in new/extended business fields and
new/extended markets - organically, or via acquisitions and investments.

The large number of customer relationships helps the Company to utilize so-called economies of
scale: the more customers using the products created by our development teams and operated at
our own data centers, and/or transport data via our own networks, the greater our profit will be.
These profits can then be invested in new customers, new developments, and new or extended
business fields.

From the current perspective, Cloud Applications and Mobile Internet will be the growth markets
over the coming years. With its clear positioning in the Access and Applications segments, United
Internet is well placed to exploit the expected market potential.

In view of the dynamic market development of Cloud Applications and Mobile Internet, the
Company’s growth opportunities are clearly apparent: universally accessible, increasingly powerful
broadband connections are enabling new and more sophisticated cloud applications. These internet-
based programs for private users and companies will also be United Internet’s growth drivers in the
years ahead - both as stand-alone products in the Applications division, as well as in combination
with landline and mobile access products in the Access division.

With its many years of experience as an access and application provider, its expertise in software
development and data center operation, marketing, sales and customer support, as well as its strong
and well-known brands (such as 1&1, GMX and WEB.DE), and customer relationships with millions of
private users, freelancers, and small companies in Germany and abroad (currently over 62 million
user accounts world-wide), the Company is excellently positioned.

In order to leverage this positioning for further sustainable growth, United Internet will also invest
heavily in new customers, new products, and new or extended business fields in the future, as well as
in its further internationalization.

In addition to organic growth, United Internet also continuously seeks possibilities for company
acquisitions, investments, and partnerships in order to extend its market positions and
competencies.

Thanks to its high and plannable level of free cash flow, United Internet has a strong source of
internal funding as well as good access to debt financing markets. Further information on the
Company’s equity strength and external financing is presented in section 2.2 “"Business
development” and 2.3 “Position of the Group”.

Further information on strategy, opportunities and targets is included in the “Risk, Opportunity and
Forecast Report” in section 4.



1.3 Control systems

The internal control systems help management steer and monitor the Group and its segments. The
systems consist of planning, actual situation, and forecast calculations based on the Group’s annually
revised strategic planning. Particular attention is paid to market developments, technological
developments, and trends, as well as their impact on the Group’s own products and services, and
the Group’s financial possibilities. The corporate control system’s aim is the continuous and
sustainable development of United Internet and its subsidiaries.

The Group’s reporting system comprises the monthly profit calculations and quarterly IFRS-
compliant reports for all consolidated subsidiaries. It presents the financial position and
performance of the Group and all divisions. Financial reporting also includes other detailed
information which is required for the assessment and control of the operating business.

The key performance indicators of the United Internet Group for chief corporate management are
presented in "Segment reporting” under point 5 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Quarterly reports on significant risks for the Company represent a further component of the control
systems.

The above mentioned reports are discussed at meetings of the Management Board and Supervisory
Board and provide the fundamental basis for assessments and decisions.

In order to steer the Group’s performance, United Internet AG uses in particular the key figures of
the income statement (sales, EBITDA, EBIT, EPS), of the statement of cash flows (free cash flow), and
of the statement of financial position (asset items, financial liabilities). The Company also employs
non-financial key figures, in particular the number and growth of fee-based customer contracts, as
well as ad-financed free accounts. The use and definition of the relevant key financial figures is
shown in section 2.2.

The key performance indicators (KPIs) used by management are sales and EBITDA. These figures are
also used in forecast reporting.

A comparison of the KPIs stated in the forecast and the actual figures is provided in this Management
Report in 2.2 "Business Development” in the section “Actual and Forecast Development” as well as in
2.3 "Position of the Group”.

The number of customer contracts, the gross and net sales figures, and the related customer
acquisition costs in particular - compared to the Company’s plans and forecast calculations - serve
as an early warning system.



1.4 Research and development

As an internet service provider, the United Internet Group does not engage in research and
development (R&D) on a scale comparable with manufacturing companies. Against this backdrop,
United Internet does not disclose key figures for R&D.

At the same time, the United Internet brands stand for high-performance internet access, solutions,
and innovative web-based products and applications which are mostly developed in-house. The
success of United Internet is rooted in an ability to develop, combine, or adapt innovative products
and services, and launch them on major markets.

Thanks to its high-performance development teams, United Internet is able to react swiftly and
flexibly to new ideas and trends, and to continuously enhance its established products by adapting
them to changing market needs - a key success factor in the fast-moving internet market. The
Company’s expertise in product development, enhancement, and roll-out minimizes its reliance on
third party development work and supplies in many areas, and thus ensures decisive competitive and
time-to-market advantages.

At United Internet’s own development centers (especially in Karlsruhe, Berlin, and Bucharest),
around 3,000 developers, product managers, and technical administrators (corresponding to around
32% of all employees) use mainly open source code in clearly defined and modeled development
environments. Third-party programming services are also used to swiftly and efficiently implement
specific projects. This enables the Company to quickly develop products and adapt them to changing
customer needs. United Internet also procures solutions from partners, which are then modified
according to needs and integrated into its systems. With the aid of its self-developed applications,
United Internet has a set of modules which can be easily combined and provided with product-
specific or country-specific user interfaces in order to create a variety of powerful and integrated
applications - a huge benefit when tailoring products to varying target groups, or for international
rollouts.

Due to the steady growth in customer figures, the demands placed on reliability and availability are
constantly rising. In addition to the further development of existing products and continuous

optimization of back-end operations, the Company also focuses on continuously enhancing existing
processes in order to raise system reliability, and thus also customer satisfaction.

Focus areas 2019

m Introduction of “eSIM”
m Expansion of Open Access Platform for implementing FTTH connections with speeds of 1 GBit/s

m Roll-out of new set-top box for IPTV

Development of new IPTV applications for smart TVs based on Android



Basic installation of a Software Defined Network (SDN) - enabling of dynamic products

Launch of “Smart Inbox” for GMX and WEB.DE
Expansion of big data platform for Al-based smart data platform with self-service analytics

Introduction of two-factor authentication for GMX and WEB.DE

Launch of “Private Cloud beta” on VMware basis

Introduction of new managed Kubernetes product for IONOS Enterprise Cloud to administer
container workloads

Introduction of legally secure and GoBD-compliant e-mail archiving for IONOS customers
Introduction of integrated eCommerce offering for website modules (MyWebsite) at IONOS
Integration of Virtual Desktop Infrastructure (VDI) product for Enterprise customers of Arsys
Introduction of new managed SAP-HANA product for Enterprise customers of Arsys
Introduction of brand monitoring for over 140 trademark offices

Introduction of OX App Suite as German alternative to Microsoft Office 365 and G-Suite

Introduction of Hosted Exchange 2019 as professional e-mail solution for medium-sized and larger
enterprises

Introduction of WordPress pro hosting portfolio specially for professionals and agencies

Introduction of new professional backup solution for all servers and cloud products of IONOS and
IONOS Enterprise Cloud

Introduction of new dedicated bare metal server with Intel Cascade Lake CPU



2. ECONOMIC REPORT
2.1 General economic and sector conditions

General economic development

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) downgraded its forecasts for the global economy several times
in the course of 2019. In the latest update to its "World Economic Outlook” on January 20, 2020, the
Fund reported preliminary growth for the global economy of 2.9% in 2019. Growth was thus well
below the prior-year figure (3.6%) and also 0.6 percentage points below the IMF’s outlook in January
2019 (3.5%).

Among other things, the Fund attributed this weaker-than-expected global economic trend to
increasing trade barriers and growing uncertainty due to geopolitical risks.

From the point of view of United Internet, the economies of its current target markets all performed
worse than originally expected. At the same time, the pace of economic growth in United Internet’s
target markets was also slower than in the previous year.

With growth of 2.3% in 2019, the US economy fell considerably short of its prior-year figure (2.9%)
and of the IMF’s expectations at the beginning of the year (outlook January 2019: 2.5%). Economic
growth of 1.5% in Canada was also well below the prior-year figure (1.9%) and likewise failed to reach
the IMF’s original expectations (1.9%). The Mexican economy stagnated with growth of 0.0%, falling
well short of the prior-year figure (2.1%) and the IMF forecast (2.1%).

At 1.2%, economic growth in the eurozone was much lower than in the previous year (1.9%) and also
below the IMF’s original expectations (1.6%).

In France, the 1.3% increase in economic output was both below the prior-year level (1.5%) and
original expectations (1.7%). With economic growth of 2.0%, Spain failed to match its prior-year
figure (2.4%) and the IMF’s original forecast (2.2%). The same applies to Italy, where growth of just
0.2% was well below both the prior-year level (0.8%) and the original forecast of the IMF (0.6%).

With growth of 1.3%, the economic trend in the non-euro country UK was unchanged from the
previous year but also below the IMF’s original expectations (1.5%).

The IMF calculated economic growth of just 0.5% for Germany, United Internet’s most important
market (sales share 2019: almost 92%), for 2019. This is 1.0 percentage point less than in the previous
year (1.5%) and 0.8 percentage points below the original expectations (1.3%). The IMF’s calculations
for Germany are also largely in line with the preliminary figures of the country’s Federal Statistics
Office (Destatis), which calculated growth (after price and calendar adjustments) in gross domestic
product (GDP) of 0.6% (prior year: 1.5%).



Changes in growth forecasts made during 2019 for United Internet’s key target countries and regions

January April July October Actual Change on

forecast forecast forecast forecast 2019 January forecast
World 3.5% 3.3% 3.2% 3.0% 2.9% -0.6%-points
USA 2.5% 2.3% 2.6% 2.4% 2.3% -0.2%-points
Canada 1.9% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% -0.4%-points
Mexico 2.1% 1.6% 0.9% 0.4% 0.0% -2.1%-points
Eurozone 1.6% 1.3% 1.3% 1.2% 1.2% -0.4%-points
France 1.5% 1.3% 1.3% 1.2% 1.3% -0.2%-points
Spain 2.2% 2.1% 2.3% 2.2% 2.0% -0.2%-points
Italy 0.6% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 0.2% -0.4%-points
UK 1.5% 1.2% 1.3% 1.2% 1.3% -0.2%-points
Germany 1.3% 0.8% 0.7% 0.5% 0.5% -0.8%-points

Source: International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook (Update), January 2020

Multi-period overview: GDP trend in United Internet’s key target countries and regions

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 YoY change
World 3.2% 3.2% 3.7% 3.6% 2.9% -0.7%-points
USA 2.6% 1.5% 2.3% 2.9% 2.3% -0.6%-points
Canada 0.9% 1.4% 3.0% 1.9% 1.5% -0.4%-points
Mexico 2.6% 2.9% 2.0% 2.1% 0.0% -2.1%-points
Eurozone 2.0% 1.8% 2.4% 1.9% 1.2% -0.7%-points
France 1.3% 1.2% 1.8% 1.7% 1.3% -0.4%-points
Spain 3.2% 3.3% 3.1% 2.4% 2.0% -0.4%-points
Italy 0.7% 0.9% 1.6% 0.8% 0.2% -0.6%-points
UK 2.2% 1.9% 1.7% 1.3% 1.3% 0.0%-points
Germany 1.5% 1.9% 2.5% 1.5% 0.5% -1.0%-points
Source: International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook (Update), January 2020
Multi-period overview: development of price- and calendar-adjusted GDP in Germany

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 YoY change
GDP 1.5% 2.1% 2.8% 1.5% 0.6% -0.9%-points

Source: German Federal Statistical Office, January 2020



Development of sector / core markets

At its annual press conference on January 14, 2020, the industry association Bitkom forecast that the
ICT market in Germany had grown significantly by 2.0% (prior year: + 2.2%) to € 169.6 billion in 2019.
At the beginning of 2019, the association had anticipated that growth would be 0.5 percentage
points lower at 1.5%.

With sales of € 92.9 billion and growth of 2.9% (prior year: + 3.5%), the IT sector continued to
display the strongest growth and also the largest market volume. Vendors of software (+ 6.3%) and IT
services (+ 2.4%) once again posted the strongest growth in 2019.

The telecommunications market recorded growth once again in 2019 with an increase of 2.0% (prior
year: + 1.9%) to € 68.1 billion. There were increases in sales of user devices (+ 11.1%) and
telecommunication infrastructure (+ 1.5%), while telecommunication services stagnated at the prior-
year level.

The consumer electronics market continued its decline with a strong decrease in sales of - 7.7%
(prior year: - 6.6%) to € 8.6 billion.

The most important ICT markets for United Internet’s business model are the German
telecommunications market (broadband connections and mobile internet) in its mostly subscription-
financed Access division, and the global cloud computing, and German online advertising markets for
its subscription- and ad-financed Applications division.

In view of the high level of household coverage already achieved and the strong trend toward mobile
internet usage, demand for new landline broadband connections in Germany has slowed in recent
years. With expected growth of 1.0 million, or 2.9%, to 35.2 million in 2019, the number of new
connections was again well below earlier record years. These figures were calculated by the
Association of Telecommunications and Value-Added Service Providers (Verband der Anbieter von
Telekommunikations- und Mehrwertdiensten - VATM) and Dialog Consult in their joint “21st TC Market
Analysis for Germany 2019” (October 2019). Within the above mentioned growth, the connections of
relevance for United Internet in the two technology fields of DSL and FTTB/FTTH grew by 0.3 million
to 25.3 million and by 0.4 million to 1.5 million. The number of cable connections rose by 0.3 million
to 8.4 million. A further 0.1 million connections in Germany are still operated via satellite/powerline.

At € 32.8 billion, revenues generated in United Internet’s landline business remained unchanged from
the previous year. In addition to retail sales, these revenue figures also include wholesale,
interconnection, and terminal device revenues.

According to calculations of Dialog Consult/VATM, the average volume of data used is rising much
more strongly than the number of newly activated connections and landline revenues - as an
indicator of continued growth in usage of e.g., IPTV and cloud applications - with growth of 26.0% to
137.1 GB (per connection and month). As a result, demand for more powerful broadband connections
also developed strongly. For example, the proportion of switched broadband connections with
speeds of at least 50 MBit/s increased by 7.0 percentage points, from 33.3% in the previous year to
40.3% in 2019.



Key market figures: fixed-line in Germany
2019 2018 Change

Fixed-line revenues (in € billion) 32.8 32.8 0.0%

Source: Dialog Consult / VATM, TC Market Analysis for Germany 2019, October 2019

According to estimates of Dialog Consult/VATM in their joint report “21st TC Market Analysis for
Germany 2019”, the number of active SIM cards in the German mobile communications market
increased by 3.8 million, or 2.8%, to 140.8 million.

Mobile revenues also rose by 2.0% to € 25.6 billion. In addition to retail sales, these revenue figures
also include interconnection, wholesale, and user device sales.

According to forecasts of Dialog Consult/VATM, the average volume of data used (per connection and
month) - as an indicator of the growing use of mobile data services - grew much faster than the
number of SIM cards and mobile revenues by 58.6% to 2.5 GB. At the same time, the number of SIM
cards suitable for use in 4G/5G networks rose by 7.3 million to 57.5 million, while 2G/3G SIM cards
fell by 3.5 million to 83.3 million.

Key market figures: mobile communications in Germany
2019 2018 Change

Mobile revenues (in € billion) 25.6 25.1 +2.0%

Source: Dialog Consult / VATM, TC Market Analysis for Germany 2019, October 2019

There was also further dynamic growth in the cloud computing market in 2019. In an update of its
study “Forecast Analysis: Public Cloud Services, Worldwide” (November 2019), Gartner Inc. forecast
global growth for public cloud services of 15.8% in 2019, from § 196.71 billion to $ 227.80 billion.

Cloud computing is no short-term trend, but represents a fundamental shift in the provision and use
of IT services. The aforementioned figures indicate the dynamic potential of this market. IT users get
better services for less money with cloud computing. Small and mid-size companies in particular can
gain access to IT applications which only major corporations could afford in the past.

Key market figures: cloud computing worldwide

in § billion 2019 2018 Change
Global sales of public cloud services 227.80 196.71 +15.8%
thereof Application Infrastructure Services (Paa$) 32.23 26.35 +22.3%
thereof Application Services (SaaS$) 99.53 85.72 +16.1%
thereof System Infrastructure Services (laaS) 40.32 32.44 +24.3%
thereof Management and Security Services 12.03 10.49 +14.7%
thereof Business Process Services (BPaa$) 43.69 41.71 +4.7%

Source: Gartner, November 2019
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In its study “German Entertainment and Media Outlook 2019-2023" (October 2019), the auditing and

consultancy company PricewaterhouseCoopers forecasts an increase in (net) revenues of the
German online advertising market of 6.9% to a total of € 8.51 billion in 2019.

With growth of 23.1%, mobile online advertising posted the strongest increase - due in particular to
the further sharp rise in the use of mobile devices. However, video advertising and search word

marketing also rose strongly once again, with growth of 9.5% and 5.5%, respectively.

Key market figures: online advertising in Germany

in € billion 2019 2018 Change
Online advertising revenues 8.51 7.96 +6.9%
thereof search marketing 3.86 3.66 +5.5%
thereof display advertising 1.66 1.62 +2.5%
thereof mobile online advertising 1.28 1.04 +23.1%
thereof affiliate / classifieds 1.02 1.01 +1.0%
thereof video advertising 0.69 0.63 +9.5%

Source: PricewaterhouseCoopers, German Entertainment and Media Outlook 2019 - 2023, October 2019



Legal conditions / significant events

The legal parameters for United Internet’s business activities remained largely unchanged from the
previous year in 2019 and thus had no significant influence on the development of the United
Internet Group.

m On June 1, 2019, the Federal Network Agency ("Bundesnetzagentur™) responsible for regulatory
issues in Germany raised prices for the provision of subscriber lines (local loops) as of July 1, 2019.
This price increase resulted in a burden on EBITDA of € 8.8 million in the fiscal year 2019.

m In its financial reporting, United Internet subsidiary 1&1 Drillisch AG communicated that certain
advance service prices are the subject of a number of expert proceedings initiated by 1&1 Drillisch
and that, in these proceedings, 1&1 Drillisch expects binding decisions about the kind and amount
of permanent price adjustments in the form of retroactively lower advance service prices. On
October 24, 2019, 1&1 Drillisch received the draft of the expert determination in the first price
adjustment procedure, which was initiated with effect as of September 2017 (Price Review 1).

1&1 Drillisch's application for the advance service prices to be reduced retroactively from this
point in time was rejected. It follows from the draft of the expert determination that the financials
of 2017 and - at least for the time being - that the 2018 and 2019 results of 1&1 Drillisch do not
improve due to price decreases. Also, a price increase due to the lapse of a contractual
adjustment mechanism for certain advance service prices that was limited in time to the end of
2018 remained at least for the time being valid. With the final expert determination received on
December 19, 2019, the decision announced in the draft version was confirmed. 1&1 Drillisch did
not include any price decreases for advance service prices in its annual forecast 2019. However,
1&1 Drillisch expected to be able to avert the price increase effective as of January 2019 in the
context of continuously decreasing market prices for mobile data usage. Against this background,
United Internet downgraded its EBITDA forecast for the fiscal year 2019 by approx. € 85 million to
an EBITDA of around € 1,250 million after receiving the draft of the expert determination on
October 24, 2019. 1&1 Drillisch believes the expert determination is wrong for various reasons and
sees methodical mistakes and discrepancies in its content. 1&1 Drillisch is also of the opinion that
essential characteristics of the MBA model, which was introduced in the context of the merger
clearance of the E-Plus takeover, have not been adequately considered. This includes in particular
the special privileges of the MBA MVNO. In the interests of its shareholders, 1&1 Drillisch will
consider its legal options. The above mentioned price increase ultimately resulted in a burden on
EBITDA of € 83.1 million in the fiscal year 2019.

There were no other significant events in fiscal 2019 which had a material effect on the development
of business.
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2.2 Business development

Initial application of IFRS 16

On January 13, 2016, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) published IFRS 16, a new
standard for lease accounting. The new standard is to be applied in fiscal years beginning on or after
January 1, 2019 - and thus also for these Annual Financial Statements 2019.

In its lease agreements, United Internet is mainly in the role of lessee and only to a minor extent in
the role of lessor. The majority of the Group’s leases are for renting network infrastructures,
buildings, technical equipment, and vehicles.

According to IFRS 16, leases are no longer regarded as classic rental agreements but as financing
transactions: the lessee acquires a right to use the leased asset and finances it via the lease
installments. Consequently, the lessee must recognize an asset for the right to use the leased asset
and a liability for the payments due for the leased asset in the balance sheet. In this way, every lease
and rental relationship is stated in the balance sheet. Only lease or rental agreements with terms of
up to twelve months and contracts with low-value assets are excluded from this obligation to be
stated in the balance sheet.

On initial application of IFRS 16, United Internet opted to recognize the asset for the right of use
granted at the value of the related lease liability as of January 1, 2019 and not to apply the standard
retrospectively for each previous reporting period.

Application of the new standard led to an increase in non-current assets (for right-of-use assets) in
the consolidated balance sheet of United Internet, and at the same time to an increase in financial
liabilities (due to the payment obligation). In the income statement, this resulted in a reduction in
rental payments, an increase in depreciation and interest expenses, and thus to a rise in EBITDA.
However, other financial performance indicators "below” EBITDA, such as EBIT, EBT, or EPS, are
either not affected by the new accounting standard, or only to a minor extent.

Specifically, the initial application of IFRS 16 in the fiscal year 2019 had a positive impact on
consolidated EBITDA of around € 87.0 million. These EBITDA effects were mostly in the Business
Access (€ +59.6 million) and Business Applications (€ +13.7 million) segments.

In order to provide comparability between the resulting EBITDA figures according to IFRS 16 in the
fiscal year 2019 and the resulting EBITDA figures according to IFRS 15 in the fiscal year 2018, the most
important effects are reported in the form of additional comments in the sections “Business
development” and “Position of the Group”.



Use and definition of relevant financial performance measures

In order to ensure the clear and transparent presentation of United Internet’s business trend, the
Group’s Annual Financial Statements and Interim Financial Statements include key financial
performance measures - in addition to the disclosures required by International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) - such as EBITDA, the EBITDA margin, EBIT, the EBIT margin, and free cash flow.

United Internet defines these measures as follows:

m EBIT: Earnings before interest and taxes represents the operating result disclosed in the
statement of comprehensive income.

m EBIT margin: Presents the ratio of EBIT to sales.

m EBITDA: Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization are calculated as
EBIT/operating result plus the depreciation and amortization (disclosed in the Consolidated
Financial Statements) of intangible assets and property, plant, and equipment, as well as assets
capitalized in the course of company acquisitions.

m EBITDA margin: Presents the ratio of EBITDA to sales.

m Free cash flow: Calculated as cash flow from operating activities (disclosed in the consolidated
financial statement), less capital expenditure for intangible assets and property, plant, and
equipment, plus payments from the disposal of intangible assets and property, plant, and
equipment.

Insofar as necessary for a clear and transparent presentation, these indicators are adjusted for
special items. Such special items usually refer solely to those effects capable of restricting the
validity of the key financial performance measures with regard to the Group’s financial and earnings
performance - due to their nature, frequency, and/or magnitude. All special items are presented and
explained for the purpose of reconciliation with the unadjusted financial figures in the relevant
section of the financial statements. One-off amounts for integration and rebranding projects in the
fiscal years 2018 and 2019 were not adjusted but are disclosed in the respective sections.

Currency-adjusted sales and earnings figures are calculated by converting sales and earnings figures
with the average exchange rates of the comparative period, instead of the current period.
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Actual and forecast development 2019

United Internet AG maintained its growth trajectory in fiscal year 2019. The Company improved its
sales and earnings figures once again, and reached its forecast of October 2019.

In the course of its ongoing integration measures in the Consumer Access segment, United Internet
adjusted the disclosed sales figures of a Group subsidiary of 1&1 Drillisch acquired in 2017, which
previously recognized revenue-reducing effects as cost of sales, and brought it in line with standard
Group disclosure methods in the fourth quarter of 2019. To aid comparability, revenue and cost of
sales figures for the fiscal year 2018 were also adjusted. As a result, disclosed revenue and cost of
sales figures for the previous year in the Consumer Access segment and at Group level were both
reduced by € 27.9 million. This merely resulted in a reclassification between these two items in the
statement of comprehensive income. The adjustment has no effect on the key earnings figures
(EBITDA and EBIT) of the segment or the Group.

United Internet published its guidance for the fiscal year 2019 in its Annual Financial Statements 2018
and specified or adjusted them during 2019 as follows:

Actual Forecast 2019  Specification” Adjustment®
2018 (March 2019) (August 2019) (October 2019)
Sales €5.103 billion® approx. + 4% approx. + 2% approx. + 2%
Sales excl. hardware revenues €4.359 billion approx. + 3% approx. + 3%
EBITDA €1.201 billion approx. + 12% approx. + 11%  approx. €1.250 billion
(IFRS 15) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16)

approx. + 8% approx. + 7%

(IFRS 15) (IFRS 15)

(1) Specification of sales forecast due to weaker (low-margin) hardware business and increased demand for LTE mobile tariffs from existing customers
during the year. At the same time, the EBITDA forecast has been specified in more detail due to the fact that subscriber line charges will not be
newly regulated until after the 2019 plan is drawn up (increase from July 2019; approx. € -10 million expected impact in 2019) and initial costs in
connection with planning and preparations for the 5G mobile communications network (approx. € -5 million expected impact in 2019).

(2) Correction of EBITDA forecast following receipt of the draft expert opinion in the first price adjustment procedure initiated with effect from
September 2017 (Price Review 1). The application by 1&1 Drillisch for a retroactive reduction of wholesale prices as of this date was not granted.
Moreover, a price increase due to the discontinuation of a contractual adjustment mechanism limited in time to the end of 2018 (approx.
€ -85 million expected effect in 2019) remained valid.

(3) After adjustment of 2018 sales figures for the Consumer Access segment and thus also for the Group as a whole

In fiscal year 2019, consolidated sales rose by 1.8%, from € 5.103 billion in the previous year to
€ 5.194 billion and were thus within the target range of the last forecast (approx. + 2%).

The same applies to sales excluding hardware revenues, which rose by 3.0%, from € 4.359 billion in
the previous year to € 4.491 billion and were thus also within the target range of the forecast
(approx. + 3%).

Consolidated EBITDA increased by 5.4% in fiscal year 2019, from € 1.201 billion in the previous year
(acc. to IFRS 15) to € 1.266 billion (acc. to IFRS 16) and was thus also within the anticipated target
range (approx. € 1.250 billion).



Summary: actual and forecast development of business in 2019

Forecast 2019
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Actual 2018 (October 2019) Actual 2019

Sales €5.103 billion approx. + 2% +1.8%
Sales excl. hardware revenues €4.359 billion approx. + 3% +3.0%
EBITDA €1.201billion  approx. €1.250 billion €1.266 billion
(IFRS 15) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16)
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Development of divisions and segments

The Group’s operating activities are divided into the two business divisions Access and Applications,
which in turn are divided into the segments Consumer Access and Business Access, as well as
Consumer Applications and Business Applications.

The Access division, with its two segments Consumer Access and Business Access, comprises United
Internet’s fee-based access products for its consumer and business customers. In its consumer
business, these include broadband and mobile access products with the respective applications
(such as home networks, online storage, telephony, video-on-demand, or IPTV), while in the business
segment these include data and network solutions for SMEs, as well as infrastructure services for
large corporations.

With a current length of around 48,500 km, United Internet operates one of Germany’s largest fiber-
optic networks. Moreover, the Company - indirectly via 1&1 Drillisch AG acquired in 2017 - is the only
MBA MVNO in Germany with long-term rights to a share of up to 30% of the used network capacity of
Telefonica Germany and thus extensive access to one of Germany’s largest mobile networks. In the
fiscal year 2019, United Internet also successfully participated in the 5G spectrum auction and
purchased two frequency blocks of 2 x 5 MHz in the 2 GHz band and five frequency blocks of 10 MHz
in the 3.6 GHz band. By acquiring these frequencies, the foundation was laid for the development of
the Company’s own powerful mobile communications network. In addition to its own landline
network and privileged access to the Telefonica network, the Company also purchases standardized
network services from various pre-service providers. These wholesale services are enhanced with
end-user devices, self-developed applications, and services from the Company’s own “Internet
Factory” in order to differentiate them from the competition.

In its Access division, United Internet operates exclusively in Germany, where it is one of the leading
providers - based on customer contracts and sales revenues.

Access products are marketed via well-known brands, such as 1&1, or the discount brands, such as
yourfone and smartmobile.de, which enable the Company to offer a comprehensive range of
products while also targeting specific customer groups.

Consumer Access segment

In its operating business in 2019, the Consumer Access segment focused on further integration
measures in connection with the merger of Drillisch AG (acquired in 2017, now 1&1 Drillisch AG) with
1&1 Telecommunication SE. In so doing, United Internet also adjusted the disclosed sales figures of a
Group subsidiary of 1&1 Drillisch acquired in 2017, which previously recognized revenue-reducing
effects as cost of sales, and brought it in line with standard Group disclosure methods in the fourth
quarter of 2019. To aid comparability, revenue and cost of sales figures for the fiscal year 2018 were
also adjusted. As a result, disclosed revenue and cost of sales figures for the previous year in the
Consumer Access segment were reduced by € 27.9 million. The adjustment has no effect on the key
earnings figures (EBITDA and EBIT) of the segment.

In addition to these integration measures, the segment also focused on adding further valuable
broadband and mobile internet contracts. The total number of fee-based contracts in the Consumer
Access segment rose by 790,000 contracts to 14.33 million in the fiscal year 2019. A total of 790,000



customer contracts were added in the Mobile Internet business, thus raising the total number of
contracts to 9.99 million. The number of broadband connections remained steady at 4.34 million.

Development of Consumer Access contracts in fiscal year 2019

in million Dec. 31, 2019 Dec. 31, 2018 Change
Consumer Access, total contracts 14.33 13.54 +0.79
thereof Mobile Internet 9.99 9.20 +0.79
thereof broadband connections 4.34 4.34 0.00

Development of Consumer Access contracts in fiscal year in the fourth quarter of 2019

in million Dec. 31, 2019 Sept. 30, 2019 Change
Consumer Access, total contracts 14.33 14.12 +0.21
thereof Mobile Internet 9.99 9.78 +0.21
thereof broadband connections 4.34 4.34 0.00

Sales of the Consumer Access segment rose moderately by 1.3% in the fiscal year 2019, from
€ 3,600.8 million in the previous year to € 3,647.5 million.

Despite a highly competitive environment, high-margin service revenues - which represent the core
business of the segment - improved by 3.1%, from € 2,854.4 million to € 2,943.0 million.

This at first glance only moderate overall sales growth was due in particular to fluctuations during the
year in (low-margin) hardware sales (€ -41.9 million compared to the previous year). Such hardware
sales (especially from the use of smartphones which customers acquire for no or only small one-off
charges on signing new contracts and which are paid for via higher tariff prices over the contractual
term) fluctuate seasonally and depend on the appeal of new devices and the model cycles of
hardware manufacturers. Consequently, this effect may be reversed in the future. If this is not the
case, however, it would have no significant impact on the segment’s EBITDA trend.

At € 686.6 million, segment EBITDA fell short of the prior-year figure (€ 719.3 million). This decline is
mainly due to additional costs for wholesale mobile telecommunications purchases (€ -83.1 million)
after the time-limited adjustment mechanism of a wholesale agreement expired at the end of 2018.
Contrary to original expectations, the expired arrangement could not be compensated for by a price
reduction during the reporting period. However, the corresponding wholesale prices are the subject
of several arbitration proceedings initiated by 1&1 Drillisch which it expects to result in binding
decisions on the requested permanent price adjustments. On October 24, 2019, 1&1 Drillisch
received the draft arbitration report on the first price adjustment proceedings (Price Review 1),
initiated with effect from September 2017, which rejected 1&1 Drillisch’s application for the
retroactive reduction of wholesale prices as of the aforementioned date. The consequence of the
draft arbitration report was that the financial figures for 2017 and - at least for the time being - the
2018 and 2019 results of 1&1 Drillisch would not be improved by price reductions. Moreover, the
aforementioned price increase remained valid - at least for the time being - due to the expiry of the
time-limited contractual adjustment mechanism at the end of 2018. In the final expert opinion
received on December 19, 2019, the decision announced in the draft version was confirmed.
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. 2019 (IFRS 16)
2018 (IFRS 15)

EBITDA also contains one-off expenses (€ -3.2 million; prior year: € -25.1 million) for current

integration projects, the reduction of regulated retail tariffs for calls and text messages to other EU
countries since May 15, 2019 (€-5.6 million), the increase in regulated subscriber line charges as of
July 1, 2019 (€ -8.8 million), and initial costs in connection with the planning and preparation of the
5G mobile communications network (€ -5.7 million). Without consideration of the above mentioned
effects and an —opposing - positive IFRS 16 effect (€ +8.2 million), like-for-like EBITDA would have

risen by 5.4% over the previous year.

Segment EBIT of € 536.1 million was virtually unaffected by IFRS 16 accounting and also fell short of
the prior-year figure (€ 560.6 million). EBIT also includes the above mentioned burdens on earnings

as well as one-off expenses.

The number of employees in this segment rose by 0.4% to 3,163 in 2019 (prior year: 3,150).

Key sales and earnings figures in the Consumer Access segment (in € million)

I ——— 3,647 .5

Sales 9
3,600.8 *13%
thereof service sales I 2,94 3.0 +3.1%
2,854.4
thereof hardware sales® SN 704.5 _ o
746.4 5.6%
I 686.6?
EBITDA 719,36 -45%
I 536.1? _ o
EBIT 560.63 4.4%
(1) Hardware sales incl. small amount of other sales
(2) Including one-off expenses for current integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: €-3.2 million)
(3) Including one-off expenses for current integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -25.1 million)
Quarterly development; change over prior-year quarter
Q12019 Q2 2019 Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q4 2018
in € million (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 15) Change
Sales 895.4 897.5 916.3 938.3 917.3 +2.3%
thereof service sales 720.8 731.0 748.5 742.7 718.0 +3.4%
thereof hardware sales®” 174.6 166.5 167.8 195.6 199.3 -1.9%
EBITDA 168.52 171.9®) 168.2M4 178.0® 197.56 -9.9%
EBIT 130.6@ 134.1%) 132.04 139.41) 159.5 -12.6%

(1) Hardware sales incl. small amount of other sales

(2) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -2.1 million)

(3) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -0.2 million)

(4) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -1.5 million)

(5) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € +0.6 million from reversal of provisions)
(6) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -12.7 million)
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Multi-period overview": Development of key sales and earnings figures

2016 2017 2018 2019

in € million (IAS 18) (IAS 18) (IFRS 15) (IFRS 16)
Sales 2,414.0 2,781.6 3,600.8 3,647.5
thereof service sales 2,317.9 2,631.0 2,854.4 2,943.0
thereof hardware sales? 96.1 150.6 746.4 704.5
EBITDA 395.2 541.20% 719.3@4 686.61)
EBITDA margin 16.4% 19.5% 20.0% 18.8%
EBIT 384.5 471.48) 560.6“ 536.1®
EBIT margin 15.9% 16.9% 15.6% 14.7%

(1) As the new segmentation was only introduced in the course of preparing the annual financial statements for 2018, the usual 5-year multi-period
overview is limited to the financial years 2016-2019

(2) Hardware sales incl. small amount of other sales

(3) Without extraordinary income from revaluation of Drillisch shares (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € +303.0 million) and without restructuring charges in
offline sales (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -28.3 million)

(4) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -25.1 million)

(5) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -3.2 million)

In addition to its operating business, United Internet successfully participated - via 1&1 Drillisch - in
the 5G spectrum auction ending on June 12, 2019 and purchased two frequency blocks of 2 x 5 MHz
in the 2 GHz band and five frequency blocks of 10 MHz in the 3.6 GHz band. The total auction price
amounted to around € 1.07 billion. By acquiring these frequencies, the foundation was laid for a
successful and permanent positioning of the 1&1 Drillisch Group as Germany’s fourth mobile network
provider. The Company intends to use this basis to establish a powerful mobile communications
network. While the 3.6 GHz spectrum is already available, the acquired frequency blocks in the

2 GHz band will only be usable from January 1, 2026. With this mind, 1&1 Drillisch has leased two
frequency blocks of 10 MHz each in the 2.6 GHz band from Telefénica, which will be available until
December 31, 2025. This agreement is based on the commitments given by Telefénica as part of the
EU’s clearance of its merger with E-Plus in 2014. On September 5, 2019, 1&1 Drillisch also signed an
agreement with the German Federal Ministry of Transport and Digital Infrastructure (BMVI) and the
German Federal Ministry of Finance (BMF) regarding the construction of mobile communication sites
in so-called “not-spots”. 1&1 Drillisch is thus helping to close existing supply gaps and improve the
provision of mobile communications in rural regions by building hundreds of base stations. In return,
1&1 Drillisch benefits from an agreement allowing it to pay for the acquired 5G spectrum in
installments. As a result, the license fees which were originally to be paid to the German government
in 2019 and 2024 can now be spread over the period up to 2030. The credit line of originally

€ 2.8 billion arranged to finance the highest bids of the spectrum auction, among other things, was
thus no longer required and has been “returned”. The agreement with the BMVI and BMF is in line
with 1&1 Drillisch’s long-term financing strategy, which is geared toward paying the major share of
expenses for the construction of its own mobile communications network from current revenue.

On December 31, 2019, 1&1 Drillisch finally exercised - as planned - the first prolongation option for
the extension of the term of the MBA MVNO agreement with Telefénica Deutschland ending on June
30, 2020. As a result, the term of the agreement has now been extended until at least June 30,
2025. In combination with another prolongation option, 1&1 Drillisch has thus secured long-term
access to the mobile communications network of Telefénica. In addition, Drillisch continues to
pursue the build-up of its own high-performance 5G mobile communications network. In order to
ensure continuous availability for its end customers during the build-up of its own nationwide
network, Drillisch is also currently negotiating the conclusion of a national roaming agreement based
on the voluntary commitment of Telefénica Deutschland in connection with the EU clearance
decision in relation to the merger with E-Plus in 2014.
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2019 (IFRS 16)
2018 (IFRS 15)

Business Access segment

In the fiscal year 2019, the key topics in the Business Access segment were the expansion of the
fiber-optic network and the addition of further sites. The network was expanded from 47,013 km in
the previous year to a length of 48,489 km while the number of connected sites was increased from
13,998 to 17,145.

Sales of the Business Access segment rose by 2.3% in the fiscal year 2019, from € 465.9 million in the
previous year to € 476.6 million.

Segment EBITDA improved by 102.8%, from € 72.6 million to € 147.2 million. This increase was also
attributable to effects from the initial application of IFRS 16 (€ +59.6 million). Without consideration
of these effects, like-for-like EBITDA rose by 20.7%.

The increases in sales and EBITDA demonstrate that 1&1 Versatel is increasingly succeeding in
exploiting the potential of its fiber-optic network to an ever greater extent.

As a result of high depreciation charges in the field of network infrastructure due to customer
growth and further Layer2 connections that will only be amortized in subsequent periods, segment
EBIT amounted to € -51.2 million - compared to € -58.1 million in the previous year - and was
virtually unaffected by IFRS 16 accounting.

The number of employees in this segment rose by 8.1% to 1,184 in 2019 (prior year: 1,095).

Key sales and earnings figures in the Business Access segment

I 476.6

Sales 465.9 +23%
I 147.2 o
EBITDA 72.6 +102.8 %
] -51.2
EBIT 581
Quarterly development; change over prior-year quarter
Q12019 Q2 2019 Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q4 2018
in € million (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 15) Change
Sales 119.3 115.0 118.2 1241 131.3 -5.5%
EBITDA 35.7 34.4 34.9 42.2 29.0 +45.5%
EBIT -13.5 -15.3 -14.2 -8.2 -5.6
Multi-period overview ": Development of key sales and earnings figures
2016 2017 2018 2019
in € million (IAS 18) (IAS 18) (IFRS 15) (IFRS 16)
Sales 513.7 447.9 465.9 476.6
EBITDA 124.0 81.5 72.6 147.2
EBITDA margin 24.1% 18.2% 15.6% 30.9%
EBIT -1.0 -40.2 -58.1 -51.2

EBIT margin - - - =

(1) As the new segmentation was only introduced in the course of preparing the annual financial statements for 2018, the usual 5-year multi-period
overview is limited to the financial years 2016-2019



The Applications division, with its two segments Consumer Applications and Business Applications,
comprises ad-financed or fee-based application products for consumer and business customers.
These applications include domains, home pages, web hosting, servers, and e-shops, Personal
Information Management applications (e-mail, to-do lists, appointments, addresses), group work,
online storage and office software.

The applications are developed at the Company’s own “Internet Factory” or in cooperation with
partner firms and operated on around 90,000 servers at the Company’s 10 data centers.

In its Applications division, United Internet is also a leading global player - based on domains,
customer contracts, and sales revenues - with activities in European countries (Germany, France,
the UK, Italy, the Netherlands, Austria, Poland, Switzerland, and Spain) as well as in North America
(Canada, Mexico, and the USA).

Applications are marketed to specific home-user and business-user target groups via the differently
positioned brands GMX, mail.com, WEB.DE, IONOS, Arsys, Fasthosts, home.pl, InterNetX, Strato,
united-domains, and World4You. Via the Sedo brand, United Internet also offers customers
professional services in the field of active domain management. Free apps are monetized via
advertising run by United Internet Media.

Consumer Applications segment

In the Consumer Applications segment, ad-financed free accounts grew by 590,000 to 37.59 million
in the fiscal year 2019. The number of fee-based Consumer Applications accounts (contracts) rose in
total by 10,000 to 2.26 million. The total number of Consumer accounts therefore increased by
600,000 to 39.85 million accounts.

Development of Consumer Applications accounts in fiscal year 2019

in million Dec. 31, 2019 Dec. 31, 2018 Change
Consumer Applications, total accounts 39.85 39.25 +0.60
thereof with Premium Mail subscription 1.54 1.54 0.00
thereof with Value-Added subscription 0.72 0.7 +0.01
thereof free accounts 37.59 37.00 +0.59

Development of Consumer Applications accounts in the fourth quarter of 2019

in million Dec. 31, 2019 Sept. 30, 2019 Change
Consumer Applications, total accounts 39.85 39.26 +0.59
thereof with Premium Mail subscription 1.54 1.54 0.00
thereof with Value-Added subscription 0.72 0.72 0.00
thereof free accounts 37.59 37.00 +0.59

As already announced in the Annual Financial Statements 2018, activities in the Consumer
Applications segment continued to focus on the repositioning and reconstruction of the GMX und
WEB.DE portals (incl. the related reduction in ad space), as well as the simultaneous establishment of
data-driven business models. Initial successes are already emerging from this transformation, as
reflected by a return to more stable user numbers for fee-based Premium Mail accounts, and growth
of 590,000 free accounts compared to December 31, 2018. In addition, over 4.1 million users (as of
December 31, 2019) had already opted in for the Smart Inbox around nine months after launch. The
first data-driven ad marketing products on this basis were presented at DMEXCO in September 2019.
As expected, the above mentioned measures had a negative impact on sales and earnings figures in
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the fiscal year 2019 and are due to gradually have a positive effect as of fiscal year 2020.
Nevertheless, there was slight year-on-year growth in sales and EBITDA again in the fourth quarter of
2019.

Against this backdrop, and as expected, sales in the segment’s core business of pay accounts and
the marketing of ad space on its own portals amounted to € 242.2 million in the fiscal year 2019 and
thus fell short of the prior-year figure (€ 250.6 million). This decline in sales is mainly attributable to
the ongoing repositioning started in the second quarter of 2018 and the associated reduction in ad
space (sales effect: € -25.4 million), which only affected sales in the previous year to a limited extent
(€ -17.0 million).

At € 12.8 million, sales in the field of low-margin, third-party marketing were well below the prior-
year figure (€ 23.6 million).

As a result, there was also an overall decline in total segment sales from € 274.2 million to € 255.0
million. Without consideration of the ad space reduction and the decline in third-party marketing,
like-for-like sales remained constant.

Due to the reduction in ad space and investment in the expansion of data-driven business models
(EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -24.3 million; prior year: € -15.9 million), segment EBITDA of € 103.6
million (prior year: € 112.8 million) was also down on the previous year. Without consideration of the
ad space reduction and a positive IFRS 16 effect (€ +4.1 million), like-for-like EBITDA declined by -
3.8%.

As a result, segment EBIT of € 85.9 million was also down on the previous year (prior year: € 100.8
million) and was virtually unaffected by IFRS 16 accounting.

The number of employees in this segment rose by 6.3% to 1,007 in 2019 (prior year: 947).

Key sales and earnings figures in the Consumer Applications segment (in € million)
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Quarterly development; change over prior-year quarter
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Q12019 Q2 2019 Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q4 2018

in € million (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 15) Change
Sales 60.4 63.4 60.7 70.6 70.3 +0.4%

thereof pay 57.9 58.6 57.8 67.9 67.8 +0.1%

accounts/portal marketing

thereof third-party 2.5 4.8 2.9 2.7 2.5 +8.0%

marketing
EBITDA 21.4 25.9 23.3 33.1 32.9 +0.6%
EBIT 18.3 20.9 19.0 27.7 30.0 -7.7%
Multi-period overview": Development of key sales and earnings figures

2016 2017 2018 2019

in € million (IAS 18) (IAS 18) (IFRS 15) (IFRS 16)
Sales 283.6 284.2 274.2 255.0

thereof pay accounts/portal 269.3 264.6 250.6 242.2

marketing

thereof third-party marketing 14.3 19.6 23.6 12.8
EBITDA 127.6 124.0 112.8 103.6
EBITDA margin 45.0% 43.6% 41.1% 40.6%
EBIT 115.0 112.1 100.8 85.9
EBIT margin 40.6% 39.4% 36.8% 33.7%

(1) As the new segmentation was only introduced in the course of preparing the annual financial statements for 2018, the usual 5-year multi-period

overview is limited to the financial years 2016-2019

Business Applications segment

In addition to projects aimed at integrating Strato and ProfitBricks (both acquired in 2017), activities
in the Business Applications segment during 2019 focused on driving the rebranding of “1&1 Internet”
via the transitional brands “1&1 IONOS” and “IONOS by 1&1” - thus taking a further step toward the
targeted IPO. Following a transition phase, the IPO is then to be held in future under the independent

"IONOS” brand.

A further focus area in 2019 was once again the sale of additional features to existing customers
(e.g., further domains, e-shops, and business apps), as well as the acquisition of high-value customer
relationships. Nevertheless, the number of fee-based Business Applications contracts was also
raised organically by 90,000 contracts in the fiscal year 2019 to a total of 8.15 million.

Development of Business Applications contracts in the fiscal year 2019

in million Dec. 31, 2019 Dec. 31, 2018 Change

Business Applications, total contracts 8.15 8.06 +0.09
thereof in Germany 3.90 3.82 +0.08
thereof abroad 4.25 4.24 +0.01

Development of Business Applications contracts in the fourth quarter of 2019

in million Dec. 31, 2019 Sept. 30, 2019 Change

Business Applications, total contracts 8.15 8.13 +0.02
thereof in Germany 3.90 3.88 +0.02
thereof abroad 4.25 4.25 0.00

Sales of the Business Applications segment rose by 5.8% in the fiscal year 2019, from € 841.8 million

in the previous year to € 890.6 million.
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Despite increased marketing expenses (€ -26.7 million, including one-offs for rebranding measures of
€ -19.2 million (prior year: one-offs for integration projects of € -16.6 million)), segment EBITDA of

€ 306.2 million was 5.4% up on the previous year (€ 290.4 million). The strong increase in marketing
expenses was opposed by positive effects from the initial application of IFRS 16 (€ +13.7 million).
Without consideration of these effects, like-for-like EBITDA grew by 4.0%.

EBIT also includes the above mentioned burdens on earnings and one-offs. In addition, there was an
increase in depreciation (due in part to the acquisition of World4You and the expansion of the server
parks). Against this backdrop, segment EBIT of € 201.4 million was slightly below the prior-year figure
(€ 202.1 million) and was virtually unaffected by IFRS 16 accounting. The above segment EBIT figure
does not include a one-off effect from trademark writeups on the “Strato” brand (€ +19.4 million).

The number of employees in this segment rose by 1.8% to 3,416 (prior year: 3,355).

Key sales and earnings figures in the Business Applications segment (in € million)

I mmmm—— 890.6

o,
Sales 841.8 +58%
I 306.20 o
EBITDA 290.4@ +5.4%
I 201.40 o
EBIT 202.12 -0.3%
(1) Including one-off expenses for integration and rebranding projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -19.2 million);
excluding trademark writeups for Strato (EBIT effect: € +19.4 million)
(2) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -16.6 million)
Quarterly development; change over prior-year quarter
Q12019 Q2 2019 Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q4 2018
in € million (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 15) Change
Sales 220.2 223.1 222.4 224.9 2071 +8.6%
EBITDA 73.70 74.6@ 88.51 69.4W 56.5 +22.8%
EBIT 45.70 49.5@ 61.6¥ 44.6W 33.76 +32.3%
(1) Including one-off expenses for integration and rebranding projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -7.0 million)
(2) Including one-off expenses for integration and rebranding projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -6.7 million)
(3) Including one-off expenses for integration and rebranding projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -1.4 million)
(4) Including one-off expenses for integration and rebranding projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -4.1 million);
excluding trademark writeups Strato (EBIT effect: € +19.4 million)
(5) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -7.8 million)
Multi-period overview": Development of key sales and earnings figures
2016 2017 2018 2019
in € million (IAS 18) (IAS 18) (IFRS 15) (IFRS 16)
Sales 638.9 762.1 841.8 890.6
EBITDA 202.5 247.32 290.41® 306.2W
EBITDA margin 31.7% 32.4% 34.5% 34.4%
EBIT 159.2 175.42 202.1® 201.44
EBIT margin 24.9% 23.0% 24.0% 22.6%

(1) As the new segmentation was only introduced in the course of preparing the annual financial statements for 2018, the usual 5-year multi-period
overview is limited to the financial years 2016-2019

(2) Without extraordinary income from revaluation of ProfitBricks shares (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € +16.1 million), without internally allocated M&A
costs (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -8.7 million) and without trademark writedowns Strato (EBIT effect: € -20.7 million)

(3) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -16.6 million)

(4) Including one-off expenses for integration and rebranding projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -19.2 million);
excluding trademark writeups Strato (EBIT effect: € +19.4 million)



Group investments

United Internet AG continued to optimize its investment portfolio in the fiscal year 2019. In the
course of these optimization measures, shares in virtual minds and Rocket Internet were sold.

Sale of shares in virtual minds

In the second quarter of 2019, United Internet sold its shares in virtual minds AG (share of voting
rights as of December 31, 2018: 25.10%) as the company no longer played a role in the strategic
investment portfolio. Already prepared in the fiscal year 2018, the sale returned an amount of

€ 21.5 million.

Sale of shares in Rocket Internet

In the fiscal year 2019, United Internet sold its shares in Rocket Internet SE in several steps (share of
voting rights as of December 31, 2018: 9.0%). Specifically, United Internet Investments Holding AG &
Co. KG sold 2,500,000 shares at a price of € 25.00 per share in July 2019 and, in the fourth quarter
of 2019, accepted the public share buyback offer of Rocket Internet amounting to 15,076,729 shares
for the remaining 11,219,841 Rocket Internet shares held against payment of the offer price of € 21.50
per share. Due to the oversubscription of its buyback offer, Rocket Internet was only able to
consider the acceptance declaration of United Internet Investments Holding for a total of 8,764,483
shares. The 2,455,358 Rocket Internet shares still held after the completion of the share buyback
offer were acquired by Mr. Oliver Samwer at the end of 2019 as agreed at the offer price.

In addition to its (fully consolidated) core operating companies, United Internet also held
investments in the following companies as of December 31, 2019.

In February 2016, United Internet announced its investment in Tele Columbus AG. As of December 31,
2019, the share of voting rights amounted to 29.90% (prior year: 28.52%). The Company’s market
capitalization as of December 31, 2019 was around € 357 million in total (prior year: € 370 million).

In July 2013, United Internet acquired a stake in Open-Xchange AG (main activity: e-mail and
collaboration solutions). United Internet has already been working successfully with the company for
many years in its Applications business. As of December 31, 2019, United Internet’s share of voting
rights amounted to 25.39%. Open-Xchange closed its fiscal year 2019 with a negative result.

In February 2014, United Internet acquired a stake of 25.10% in ePages GmbH (main activity: e-shop
solutions). In addition to the equity stake, ePages and Group subsidiary 1&1 IONOS SE cooperate in
the field of e-shop solutions. As of December 31, 2019, United Internet’s share of voting rights
amounted to 25.01%. ePages posted a positive result in its fiscal year 2019.

In April 2014, United Internet acquired a stake in uberall GmbH (main activity: online listings). In
addition, uberall and 1&1 IONOS SE agreed a long-term cooperation contract for the use of uberall
solutions. As of December 31, 2019, the share of voting rights held by United Internet amounted to
27.42%. uberall is still in the start-up phase and posted a negative result in its fiscal year 2019.
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In April 2017, United Internet acquired a stake in rankingCoach International GmbH (main activity:
online marketing solutions). In addition to the equity stake, rankingCoach and 1&1I0NOS SE signed a
long-term cooperation agreement for 1&1 IONOS SE to use the online marketing solutions of
rankingCoach as part of its hosting and cloud products marketed in Europe and North America. As of
December 31, 2019, the share of voting rights amounted to 30.70%. rankingCoach is still in the start-
up phase and posted a negative result in its fiscal year 2019.

Following the contribution of affilinet GmbH to AWIN in October 2017, United Internet also holds a
stake in AWIN AG (main activity: affiliate marketing). Several United Internet subsidiaries are
currently working together with AWIN and using the company’s affiliate network as part of their
marketing mix. As of December 31, 2019, United Internet’s share of voting rights amounted to
20.00%. AWIN once again closed its fiscal year 2019 with a strongly positive result.



Share and dividend

The United Internet share decreased in value during fiscal year 2019: the share price fell by 23.4%
to € 29.28 as of December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018: € 38.20). The share thus performed much
worse than its comparative indices, which rose year on year (DAX + 25.5%; MDAX + 31.2%).

Share performance 2019, indexed
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There was a corresponding decline in the market capitalization of United Internet AG from around
€ 7.83 billion in the previous year to around € 6.00 billion as of December 31, 2019.

In fiscal year 2019, average daily trading via the XETRA electronic computer trading system amounted
to around 523,000 shares (prior year: 405,000) with an average value of € 16.4 million (prior year:
€ 19.3 million).

Multi-period overview: share performance (in €; all stock exchange figures are based on Xetra trading)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Year-end 50.91 37.10 57.34 38.20 29.28
Performance +35.8% -27.1% +54.6% -33.4% -23.4%
Year-high 51.94 49.89 59.17 59.80 40.42
Year-low 36.17 34.42 37.01 34.14 24.21
Average daily turnover 15,279,407 16,301,156 19,666,155 19,261,114 16,415,087
Average daily turnover (units) 354,904 407,372 418,771 404,956 522,809
Shares at year-end (units) 205 million 205 million 205 million 205 million 205 million
Market value at year-end 10.44 billion 7.61 billion 11.75 billion 7.83 billion 6.00 billion
EPS®M 1.80 0.86 3.06 0.94 2.13
Adjusted EPS2 1.73 2.1 2.02 1.96 1.99

(1) EPS from continued operations

(2) EPS from continued operations and without special items: 2015 without effects from sale of Goldbach shares and part of stake in virtual minds (EPS
effect: € +0.07); 2016 without negative one-off effect from impairment (EPS effect: € -1.25); 2017 without net positive one-off effects from
valuation topics, transaction and restructuring costs, writedowns on brands, writedowns on financial assets / Rocket impairment charges, financing
costs and one-off tax effects (EPS effect: € +1.04); 2018 without negative effect from Tele Columbus impairment charges (EPS effect: € -1.02); 2019
without positive effects from reversal of impairments Tele Columbus (EPS effect: € +0.09) and trademark writeups Strato (EPS effect: € +0.05)

I MDAX
DAX
N United Internet
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Share data

Share type Registered common stock
Notional share of capital stock 1.00 €
German Securities Identification Number (WKN) 508903
International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) DE0005089031
Ticker symbol Xetra UTDI
Reuters ticker symbol UTDI.DE
Bloomberg ticker symbol UTDI.GR

Segment Prime Standard
Index MDAX, TecDAX
Sector Software

Shareholder structure
Shareholder

Shareholding

Ralph Dommermuth

- Ralph Dommermuth GmbH & Co. KG Beteiligungsgesellschaft (39.27%)

- RD Holding GmbH & Co. KG (0.98%) 40.24%
United Internet (treasury stock) 8.46%
Allianz Global Investors 5.52%
Flossbach von Storch 5.01%
BlackRock 3.48%
Free float 37.29%

As of December 31, 2019; figures based on the last respective notification of voting rights

United Internet’s dividend policy aims to pay a dividend to shareholders of approx. 20-40% of
adjusted consolidated net income after minority interests (adjusted consolidated net income
attributable to the “shareholders of United Internet AG” - according to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income), provided that funds are not needed for further Company development.

On January 24, 2019, the Group subsidiary 1&1 Drillisch AG announced that it intended to apply to the
German Federal Network Agency (“Bundesnetzagentur”) for admission to take part in the auction on
the allocation of mobile frequencies ("5G spectrum auction”) and, in the event of a successful
acquisition of spectrum at the auction, to establish and operate a 5G mobile network. The applicant
was Drillisch Netz AG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 1&1 Drillisch AG. Following admission by the
Bundesnetzagentur on February 25, 2019, the 5G spectrum auction started on March 19, 2019.

Against the background of the 5G spectrum auction still ongoing at the time, and the necessary
additional investments in the event of a successful acquisition of spectrum at the auction, the
Management Board and Supervisory Board announced on March 27, 2019 that the dividend proposal
at the Annual Shareholders' Meeting on May 23, 2019 would take into account the outcome of the
ongoing auction on the allocation of mobile frequencies. Accordingly, a dividend of € 0.05 per
United Internet share was proposed for the event that United Internet’s subsidiary 1&1 Drillisch AG
had successfully acquired spectrum at the auction by May 20, 2019.

As of May 20, 2019, the 5G spectrum auction had still not ended and - despite its historically long
duration - it was still unclear on expiry of the deadline (May 20, 2019) whether 1&1 Drillisch AG would
acquire spectrum at the auction.
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As the Company had already announced on May 7, 2019, in this event the Management Board and
Supervisory Board resolved and announced on May 20, 2019 to make a dividend proposal of € 0.05
per share at the Annual Shareholders' Meeting. This precautionary measure was taken to ensure that
the necessary additional investments could be made if 1&1 Drillisch was able to successfully bid for
frequencies before the end of the 5G spectrum auction. The dividend proposal was based on the
minimum dividend as prescribed by section 254 (1) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

At the Company’s Annual Shareholders' Meeting on May 23, 2019, the proposal of the Management
Board and Supervisory Board to pay a dividend of € 0.05 (prior year: € 0.85) per share for the fiscal
year 2018 was approved with a majority of 99.8% of votes cast. A total dividend payment of

€ 10.0 million (prior year: € 170.0 million) was made on May 28, 2019. The payout ratio was thus 2.5%
of the adjusted consolidated net income after minority interests for 2018 (€ 392.6 million).

For the fiscal year 2019, the Management Board of United Internet AG will propose to the Supervisory
Board a dividend of € 0.50 per share (prior year: € 0.05). The Management Board and Supervisory
Board will discuss this dividend proposal at the Supervisory Board meeting on March 25, 2020 (and
thus after the preparation deadline for this Management Report). The Annual Shareholders' Meeting
of United Internet AG 2020 will then vote on whether to adopt the joint proposal of the Management
Board and Supervisory Board. In view of the corona crisis, the exact date of the Annual Shareholders'
Meeting originally planned for May 20, 2020 is currently still open.

On the basis of around 187.7 million shares with dividend entitlement (as of December 31, 2019), the
total dividend payment for fiscal year 2019 would amount to € 93.9 million. The dividend payout ratio
would therefore amount to 23.7% of adjusted consolidated net income after minority interests for
2019 (€ 396.4 million) and thus lie - in view of the investments due to be made in the Company’s own
mobile communications network - within the lower range targeted by its dividend policy. Based on
the closing price of the United Internet share on December 31, 2019, the dividend yield would be
1.7%.

Multi-period overview: dividend development

For 2015 For 2016 For 2017 For 2018 For 2019®
Dividend per share (in €) 0.70 0.80 0.85 0.05 0.50
Dividend payment (in € million) 142.9 161.3 169.9 10.0 93.9
Payout ratio 39.0% 90.0% 26.2% 5.3% 22.2%
Adjusted payout ratio? 39.0% 37.2% 42.1% 2.5% 23.7%
Dividend yield® 1.4% 2.2% 1.5% 0.1% 1.7%

(1) Subject to approval of Supervisory Board and Annual Shareholders' Meeting 2020

(2) Without special items: writedowns on financial assets / Rocket impairment charges (2016); net positive one-off effects from non-cash-effective
valuation topics, transaction and restructuring costs, writedowns on brands, writedowns on financial assets / Rocket impairment charges, financing
costs, one-off tax effects, and discontinued operations (2017); impairment charges on Tele Columbus shares (2018); reversal of impairment charges
on Tele Columbus shares and trademark writeups on Strato (2019)

(3) As of: December 31

The Annual Shareholders' Meeting of United Internet AG was held in Frankfurt am Main on May 23,
2019. A total of 81.11% of capital stock (or 83.02% of capital stock less treasury shares) was
represented. The shareholders adopted all resolutions on the agenda requiring voting with large
majorities.
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On August 14, 2019, the Management Board of United Internet AG resolved to launch a new share
buyback program. The decision was approved by the Supervisory Board. United Internet AG thus
utilized the authorization issued by the Company’s Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of May 18, 2017 to
buy back treasury shares representing up to 10% of the Company's capital stock at the time of the
resolution or, if the amount is lower, at the time of exercising the authorization. The authorization
was issued for the period up to September 18, 2020 and had not been previously utilized.

In the course of the new share buyback program, up to six million Company shares (corresponding to
approx. 2.93% of capital stock at the time) were to be bought back. The volume of the share buyback
program amounted to € 192.0 million in total. The program was launched on August 16, 2019 and is to
be completed by March 31, 2020 at the latest by buying shares back via the stock exchange. In the
course of this share buyback program, which was prematurely ended with effect from the end of
December 9, 2019, a total of 3,919,999 treasury shares were acquired at an average share price of

€ 29.38 and with a total volume of € 115.2 million.

At the same time as the termination of the aforementioned share buyback program, the Company’s
Management Board resolved - with the approval of the Supervisory Board - to make a public share
buyback offer to the shareholders of United Internet AG for a total of up to 9,000,000 shares at a
price per share of € 29.65. Concurrently, Rocket Internet SE irrevocably undertook to accept United
Internet AG's public share buyback offer for 8,135,804 shares held by Rocket Internet SE. In the
event of an oversubscription of the Company's public share buyback offer, a proportional allocation
was to be made to Rocket Internet SE. With its public share buyback offer, United Internet AG once
again made use of the authorization granted by the Annual Shareholders' Meeting of May 18, 2017. In
the course of the public share buyback offer of United Internet AG, a total of 8,715,524 shares were
tendered to the Company by the end of the acceptance period at a price of € 29.65 and with a total
volume of € 258.4 million.

As of December 31, 2019, United Internet held 17,338,513 treasury shares (December 31, 2018:
4,702,990). This corresponded to approx. 8.46% of capital stock at the time of € 205,000,000
(December 31, 2018: 2.29%).

In the fiscal year 2019, the Management Board and Investor Relations department of United Internet
AG once again provided institutional and private investors with regular and comprehensive
information. It was provided to the capital market via the quarterly statements, half-year financial
report and annual report, press and analyst conferences, as well as via various webcasts. The
Company’s management and Investor Relations department explained the Company’s strategy and
financial results in numerous one-on-one discussions at the Company’s offices in Montabaur, as well
as at roadshows and conferences in Germany, France, UK, Spain, Switzerland, and the USA. Over

20 national and international investment banks are in contact with the Company’s Investor Relations
department and publish regular studies and comments on the Company’s progress and share
performance. Apart from such one-on-one meetings, shareholders and potential future investors can
also receive the latest news on the Company around the clock via the Company’s website
(www.united-internet.de).



Liquidity and finance

The Group’s financial strategy is primarily geared to the strategic business plans of its operating
business units. In order to provide sufficient flexibility for further growth, United Internet therefore
constantly monitors trends in funding opportunities arising on the financial markets. Various options
for funding and potential for optimizing existing financial instruments are regularly reviewed. The
main focus is on ensuring sufficient liquidity and the financial independence of the Group at all
times. In addition to its own financial strength, the Group maintains sufficient liquidity reserves with
core banks. The flexible use of these liquidity reserves enables efficient management of Group
liquidity, optimal debt management to reduce interest costs, and the avoidance of negative interest
on deposits.

As of December 31, 2019, the Group’s bank liabilities amounted to € 1,738.4 million (prior year:
€ 1,939.1 million) and mainly comprise promissory note loans and syndicated loans.

At the end of the reporting period on December 31, 2019, total liabilities from promissory note loans
with maximum terms until March 2025 amounted to € 835.5 million (prior year: € 835.5 million).

The Company has made use of a contractually agreed prolongation option and extended the term of
its revolving syndicated loan facility totaling € 810 million agreed on December 21, 2018, by one year
(originally five years) from January 2024 to January 2025.

As of December 31, 2019, € 700 million of the revolving syndicated loan facility had been drawn (prior
year: € 700 million). As a result, funds of € 110 million (prior year: € 110 million) were still available to
be drawn from the credit facility.

At the end of the reporting period on December 31, 2019, a syndicated loan totaling € 200 million
redeemable on maturity with a term ending in August 2021 was also outstanding (prior year:

€ 200 million). The syndicated loan totaling € 200 million with a term until August 2019 was
redeemed on schedule from current cash flow. Together with the above mentioned drawings from
the revolving syndicated loan facility, total liabilities from syndicated loan facilities and syndicated
loans outstanding as of the reporting period amounted to € 900 million.

In addition, a bilateral credit facility of € 200 million is available to the Company. The facility has
been granted until further notice. No drawings had been made from the credit facility as at the end
of the reporting period.

As of December 31, 2019, United Internet therefore had free credit lines totaling € 310 million.
The funding arranged by 1&1 Drillisch AG to participate in the 5G spectrum auction was returned in
full due to an agreement made with the German government in September 2019 to pay for the

acquired frequencies in installments.

Further disclosures on the various financial instruments, drawings, interest rates, and maturities are
provided under point 31 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2.3 Position of the Group

Earnings position

In the fiscal year 2019, the total number of fee-based customer contracts in the United Internet
Group was raised by 890,000 to 24.74 million contracts. Ad-financed free accounts rose by 590,000
to 37.59 million.

Consolidated sales grew by 1.8% in the fiscal year 2019, from € 5,102.9 million in the previous year to
€ 5,194.1 million. In the course of its ongoing integration measures in the Consumer Access segment,
United Internet adjusted the disclosed sales figures of a Group subsidiary of 1&1 Drillisch acquired in
2017, which previously recognized revenue-reducing effects as cost of sales, and brought it in line
with standard Group disclosure methods in the fourth quarter of 2019. To aid comparability, revenue
and cost of sales figures for the fiscal year 2018 were also adjusted. As a result, disclosed revenue
and cost of sales figures for the previous year in the Consumer Access segment and at Group level
were both reduced by € 27.9 million. This merely resulted in a reclassification between these two
items in the statement of comprehensive income. The adjustment has no effect on the key earnings
figures (EBITDA and EBIT) of the segment or the Group.

This at first glance only moderate growth was due in particular to fluctuations during the year in
(low-margin) hardware sales (€ -41.9 million compared to the previous year) in the Consumer Access
segment. Sales were also influenced by the ad space reduction initiated in April 2018 as part of a
repositioning of the Consumer Applications segment (€ -25.4 million; prior year: € -17.0 million).
Sales outside Germany improved by 8.0% from € 401.0 million to € 433.0 million.

Due to additional costs for wholesale purchases, the cost of sales rose from € 3,350.1 million
(65.7% of sales) in the previous year to € 3,427.0 million (66.0% of sales). There was a corresponding
decrease in the gross margin from 34.3% to 34.0%. This resulted in a 0.8% increase in gross profit
from € 1,752.8 million to € 1,767.1 million.

Largely as a result of increased marketing expenses in connection with rebranding in the Business
Applications segment, there was a disproportionate rise in sales and marketing expenses from

€ 678.2 million (13.3% of sales) in the previous year to € 741.8 million (14.3% of sales). By contrast,
administrative expenses fell from € 218.9 million in the previous year (4.3% of sales) to

€ 205.9 million (4.0% of sales).

Multi-period overview: Development of key cost items

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
in € million (IAS 18) (IAS 18) (IAS 18) (IFRS 15) (IFRS 16)
Cost of sales 2,437.2 2,461.8 2,691.1 3,350.1 3,427.0
Cost of sales ratio 65.6% 64.6% 64.0% 65.7% 66.0%
Gross margin 34.4% 35.4% 36.0% 34.3% 34.0%
Selling expenses 557.2 521.2 638.3 678.2 741.8
Selling expenses ratio 15.0% 13.7% 15.2% 13.3% 14.3%
Administrative expenses 182.2 182.9 185.1 218.9 205.9
Administrative expenses ratio 4.9% 4.8% 4.4% 4.3% 4.0%

Other operating expenses fell from € 24.0 million to € 17.0 million, while other operating income
rose from € 77.9 million to € 102.9 million. Impairment losses on receivables and contract assets
amounted to € 94.2 million (prior year: € 98.5 million).



Consolidated EBITDA was positively influenced by the initial application of IFRS 16 (€ +87.0 million) in
the fiscal year 2019. In addition to the one-off expenses already announced (€ -3.2 million; prior
year: € -25.1 million), the regulatory decisions to reduce retail tariffs for calls and text messages to
other EU countries as of May 15, 2019 (€-5.6 million) and to increase subscriber line charges as of
July 1, 2019 (€ -8.8 million), as well as initial costs in connection with the planning and preparation of
the 5G mobile communications network (€ -5.7 million), there were opposing effects in the
Consumer Access segment in particular from additional costs (€ -83.1 million) for wholesale
purchases after the time-limited adjustment mechanism of a wholesale agreement expired at the
end of 2018. Contrary to original expectations, the expired arrangement could not be compensated
for by a price reduction during the reporting period. However, the corresponding wholesale prices
are the subject of several arbitration proceedings initiated by 1&1 Drillisch which it expects to result
in binding decisions on the requested permanent price adjustments. On October 24, 2019,

1&1 Drillisch received the draft arbitration report on the first price adjustment proceedings (Price
Review 1), initiated with effect from September 2017, which rejected 1&1 Drillisch’s application for
the retroactive reduction of wholesale prices as of this date. The consequence of the draft
arbitration report was that the financial figures for 2017 and - at least for the time being - the 2018
and 2019 results of 1&1 Drillisch would not be improved by price reductions. Moreover, the
aforementioned price increase remained valid - at least for the time being - due to the expiry of the
time-limited contractual adjustment mechanism at the end of 2018. In the final expert opinion
received on December 19, 2019, the decision announced in the draft version was confirmed.

Apart from these additional costs, future investments (implemented as planned), such as the
repositioning of the Consumer Applications segment (€ -24.3 million; prior year: € -15.9 million)

and increased marketing expenses in the Business Applications segment (€ -26.7 million), had an
initial negative effect on earnings. Increased marketing expenses included a one-off amount of

€ -19.2 million for rebranding measures (prior year: one-offs of € -16.6 million for integration
projects). All in all, EBITDA rose by 5.4% in fiscal year 2019, from € 1,201.3 million to € 1,265.7 million
(according to IFRS 16). Like-for-like growth according to IFRS 15 amounted to -1.9%.

Key earnings figures “below EBITDA” were influenced by various special items in the fiscal years 2018
and 2019.

m The special item “Impairment charges Tele Columbus 2018” results from the impairment of shares
in Tele Columbus AG held by United Internet and disclosed in the result from associated
companies. In the fiscal year 2018, it had a negative effect on EBT, net income and EPS.

m The special item “Impairment reversals Tele Columbus 2019” results from the impairment reversal
of shares in Tele Columbus AG held by United Internet and disclosed in the result from associated
companies. In the fiscal year 2019, it had a positive effect on EBT, net income and EPS.

m The special item “Trademark writeups Strato 2019” results from trademark writeups on the Strato
brand and had a positive effect on EBIT, EBT, net income and EPS in the fiscal year 2019.
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Reconciliation of EBIT, EBT, net income and EPS with figures adjusted for special items

in € million; EPS in € Fiscal year 2019 Fiscal year 2018
EBIT 811.1 811.0
Trademark writeups Strato 2019 -19.4
EBIT before special items (operating) 791.7 811.0
EBT 779.7 561.9
Trademark writeups Strato 2019 -19.4
Impairment reversals Tele Columbus 2019 -18.5
Impairment charges Tele Columbus 2018 +203.8
EBT before special items (operating) 741.8 765.7
Net income 539.0 312.1
Trademark writeups Strato 2019 -13.5
Impairment reversals Tele Columbus 2019 -18.5
Impairment charges Tele Columbus 2018 +203.8
Net income before special items (operating) 507.0 515.9
Net income "Shareholders United Internet” 423.9 188.8
Trademark writeups Strato 2019 -9.0
Impairment reversals Tele Columbus 2019 -18.5
Impairment charges Tele Columbus 2018 +203.8
Net income "Shareholders United Internet"” before special items (operating) 396.4 392.6
EPS 2.13 0.94
Trademark writeups Strato 2019 - 0.05
Impairment reversals Tele Columbus 2019 - 0.09
Impairment charges Tele Columbus 2018 +1.02
EPS before special items (operating) 1.99 1.96

Without consideration of the above mentioned opposing special items, the key performance
measures EBIT, EBT, net income and EPS for the fiscal year 2019 developed as follows:

Due to the above mentioned burdens on earnings and one-offs, consolidated operating EBIT of
€ 791.7 million was down on the previous year (€ 811.0 million) and virtually unaffected by IFRS 16
accounting.

The same applies to operating earnings before taxes (EBT) and operating net income, which were
also below the like-for-like figures of the previous year at € 741.8 million (prior year: € 765.7 million)

and € 507.0 million (prior year: € 515.9 million), respectively.

By contrast, operating net income attributable to shareholders of United Internet AG improved from
€ 392.6 million to € 396.4 million.

There was a corresponding increase in operating EPS from € 1.96 to € 1.99.



Key sales and earnings figures of the Group (in € million)
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I 5,194 1

% |
Sales 5.102.9 +1.8% 2019 (IFRS 16)
2018 (IFRS 15)
I 1,265.70 o
EBITDA 1,201.3 +5.4%
I 791.707 o
EBIT 811.02 -2.4%
(1) Including one-off expenses for integration and rebranding projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -22.4 million);
excluding trademark writeups for Strato (EBIT effect: € +19.4 million)
(2) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -41.7 million)
Quarterly development; change on prior-year quarter
Q12019 Q2 2019 Q3 2019 Q4 2019 Q4 2018
in € million (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 16) (IFRS 15) Change
Sales 1,276.5 1,280.0 1,298.5 1,339.1 1,302.5 +2.8%
EBITDA 299.70 330.3@ 314.00) 321.7W 326.79 -1.5%
EBIT 181.10 209.7@ 196.86) 204.1@ 228.2) -10.6%
(1) Including one-off expenses for integration and rebranding projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -9.1 million)
(2) Including one-off expenses for integration and rebranding projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -6.9 million)
(3) Including one-off expenses for integration and rebranding projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -2.9 million)
(4) Including one-off expenses for integration and rebranding projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -3.5 million);
excluding trademark writeups Strato (EBIT effect: € +19.4 million)
(5) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -20.5 million)
Multi-period overview: development of key sales and earnings figures
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
in € million (IAS 18) (IAS 18) (IAS 18) (IFRS 15) (IFRS 16)
Sales 3,715.7 3,808.1 4,206.3 5,102.9 5,194.1
EBITDA 757.20 835.4 979.62) 1,201.3® 1,265.7%
EBITDA margin 20.4% 21.9% 23.3% 23.5% 24.4%
EBIT 541.70 642.7 704.02 811.0® 791.7W
EBIT margin 14.6% 16.9% 16.7% 15.9% 15.2%

(1) Without one-off income from sale of Goldbach shares and part of stake in virtual minds (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € +14.0 million)

(2) Without extraordinary income from revaluation of Drillisch shares (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € +303.0 million) and revaluation of ProfitBricks shares
(EBITDA and EBIT effect: € +16.1 million), as well as without M&A transaction costs (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -17.1 million), without restructuring

charges in offline sales (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -28.3 million) and without trademark writedowns Strato (EBIT effect: € -20.7 million)

(3) Including one-off expenses for integration projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -41.7 million)
(4) Including one-off expenses for integration and rebranding projects (EBITDA and EBIT effect: € -22.4 million);
excluding trademark writeups Strato (EBIT effect: € +19.4 million)

Group’s financial position

Thanks to the positive trend in earnings, operative cash flow rose from € 889.5 million in the

previous year to € 935.0 million in the fiscal year 2019.

Cash flow from operating activities in the fiscal year 2019 rose strongly from € 482.3 million in the
previous year to € 828.9 million. This increase was mainly due to high prepayments to pre-service
providers and a simultaneously strong increase in inventories in the previous year.

Cash flow from investing activities amounted to € 87.2 million in the reporting period (prior year:
€ -350.9 million). This resulted mainly from disbursements of € 252.8 million for capital expenditures
(prior year: € 271.8 million). There was an opposing effect in particular from the sale of associated

companies (mainly from concluding the sale of virtual minds shares already prepared in 2018)
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amounting to € 35.6 million (of which gain on disposal: € 21.5 million) as well as from the sale of
financial assets (mainly Rocket Internet shares) totaling € 303.7 million. In addition to the
aforementioned capital expenditures, cash flow from investing activities in the previous year was also
shaped by the purchase of shares in affiliated companies (World4You), as well as a subsequent cash
outflow from the sale of yourfone Shop GmbH.

United Internet’s free cash flow is defined as cash flow from operating activities, less capital
expenditures, plus payments from disposals of intangible assets and property, plant, and equipment.
As a result of the strong increase in cash flow from operating activities and lower capital
expenditures, free cash flow rose from € 254.6 million (without consideration of a tax payment of

€ 34.7 million from fiscal year 2016) to € 607.0 million (without consideration of tax payments from
fiscal year 2017 and previous years of € 22.1 million). With the initial application of the accounting
standard IFRS 16, the redemption share of lease liabilities is disclosed in cash flow from financing
activities as of fiscal year 2019. After deducting the cash flow item "Redemption of finance lease
liabilities and rights of use” (€ -111.0 million), free cash flow amounted to € 496.0 million.

Cash flow from financing activities in the fiscal year 2019 was dominated by the purchase of treasury
shares totaling € 373.6 million (prior year: € 0), net loan repayments totaling € 200.8 million (prior
year: € 22.9 million), the redemption of frequency liabilities totaling € 61.3 million (prior year: € 0),
the redemption of lease liabilities totaling € 111.0 million (prior year: € 25.9 million), which increased
strongly as a result of IFRS 16 accounting, the dividend payment of United Internet AG totaling

€ 10.0 million (prior year: € 170 million), dividend payments to minority shareholders (especially the
dividend of 1&1 Drillisch AG) totaling € 2.6 million (prior year: € 75.4 million), and payments to
minority shareholders(especially in connection with the increased stake in 1&1 Drillisch) totaling

€ 98.4 million (prior year: € 15.4 million).

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to € 117.6 million as of December 31, 2019, compared to € 58.1
million on the same date in the previous year.

Multi-period overview: Development of key cash flow figures

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
in € million (IAS 18) (IAS 18) (IAS 18) (IFRS 15) (IFRS 16)
Operative cash flow 554.5 644.2 656.4 889.5 935.0
Cash flow from operating activities 533.2@ 587.0% 655.7@4 482.3 828.9
Cash flow from investing activities -766.0 -422.7 -897.7 -350.9 87.2
Free cash flow® 300.5%@ 423.08) 424.4@ 254.6) 496.01)
Cash flow from financing activities 23.1 -43.2 312.2 -312.6 -857.6
Cash and cash equivalents on December 31 84.3 101.7 238.5 58.1 117.6

(1) Free cash flow is defined as cash flow from operating activities, less capital expenditures, plus payments from disposals of intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment

(2) 2015 without consideration of a capital gains tax refund (net: € 242.7 million) and including an income tax payment originally planned for the fourth
quarter of 2015 (around €100.0 million)

(3) 2016 without consideration of the aforementioned income tax payment (€100.0 million)

(4) 2017 without consideration of a capital gains tax refund originally planned for the fourth quarter of 2016 (€70.3 million)

(5) 2018 without consideration of a tax payment from fiscal year 2016 (€ 34.7 million)

(6) 2019 without consideration of tax payments from fiscal year 2017 and previous years (€ -22.1 million); incl. the repayment portion of lease liabilities
(€111.0 million), which have been reported under cash flow from financing activities since the financial year 2019 (IFRS 16)
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Group’s asset position

In the fiscal year 2018, United Internet carried out a detailed impact assessment on accounting
pursuant to IFRS 16. In summary, the effects as of January 1, 2019 from the initial application of IFRS
16 with respect to lessee contracts previously accounted for as operating leases are as follows: the
Group's balance sheet total increased by approximately € 275 million as of January 1, 2019. The
capitalization of right-of-use assets amounting to approximately € 275 million is opposed by the
recognition of lease liabilities in almost the same amount, which were offset against deferred
prepayments for leases.

The balance sheet total rose in total from € 8.174 billion as of December 31, 2018 to € 9.086 billion
on December 31, 2019. This increase is mainly due to the initial recognition of the acquired 5G
spectrum, resulting in intangible assets of € 1,070.2 million and other financial liabilities of

€ 1,008.9 million as of December 31, 2019. Under IFRS regulations, intangible assets resulting from
the acquisition are to be carried at cost and other financial liabilities at fair value.

Current assets increased slightly from € 1,364.7 million as of December 31, 2018 to € 1,371.2 million
on December 31, 2019. Cash and cash equivalents disclosed under current assets increased from

€ 58.1 million to € 117.6 million due to closing-date effects. Trade accounts receivable fell from

€ 351.4 million to € 346.0 million. The item contract assets rose from € 427.0 million to

€ 507.8 million and includes current claims against customers due to accelerated revenue
recognition from the application of IFRS 15. Inventories decreased from € 89.6 million to

€ 79.3 million. Current prepaid expenses rose from € 224.8 million to € 237.0 million and mainly
comprise the short-term portion of expenses relating to contract acquisition and contract
fulfillment according to IFRS 15. Other financial assets decreased from € 72.8 million to € 48.1 million
and income tax claims from € 129.6 million to € 21.5 million.

Non-current assets increased strongly from € 6,809.2 million as of December 31, 2018 to

€ 7,715.2 million on December 31, 2019. Due to the earnings contribution of investments, shares in
associated companies decreased from € 206.9 million to € 196.0 million. As a result of the sale of
previously held shares in Rocket Internet SE, other financial assets fell from € 348.0 million to

€ 90.4 million. Largely as a result of the initial application of IFRS 16, property, plant, and equipment
increased from € 818.0 million to € 1,118.2 million. Intangible assets rose strongly from

€ 1,244.6 million to € 2,167.4 million due to the above mentioned initial recognition of the acquired
5G spectrum. Goodwill remained almost unchanged at € 3,616.5 million. The item contract assets
was also virtually unchanged at € 174.3 million and includes non-current claims against customers
due to accelerated revenue recognition from the application of IFRS 15. Prepaid expenses decreased
from € 341.2 million to € 284.3 million and mainly include the long-term portion of expenses relating
to contract acquisition and contract fulfillment, as well as prepayments in connection with long-
term purchasing agreements. Deferred tax assets of € 10.4 million were largely unchanged.

Current liabilities fell from € 1,299.7 million as of December 31, 2018 to € 1,269.0 million on
December 31, 2019. Due to closing-date effects, current trade accounts payable decreased from

€ 557.7 million to € 475.5 million. Short-term bank liabilities rose from € 206.2 million to

€ 243.7 million as a result of reclassifying non-current to current liabilities in accordance with the
maturity profile of liabilities. Income tax liabilities decreased from € 187.9 million to € 91.7 million.
The item current contract liabilities was largely unchanged at € 149.9 million and mainly includes
payments received from customer contracts for which the performance has not yet been completely
rendered. The increase in current other financial liabilities from € 124.1 million to € 239.4 million
results mainly from the initial application of IFRS 16.
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Non-current liabilities increased strongly from € 2,352.6 million as of December 31, 2018 to

€ 3,202.6 million on December 31, 2019. Long-term bank liabilities fell significantly from

€ 1,733.0 million to € 1,494.6 million. Deferred tax liabilities decreased from € 389.8 million to

€ 351.8 million. The item non-current contract liabilities was virtually unchanged at € 34.9 million
and mainly includes payments received from customer contracts for which the performance has not
yet been completely rendered. The increase in non-current other financial liabilities from

€ 87.0 million to € 1,247.5 million resulted mainly from the above mentioned acquisition of 5G
spectrum as well as from their initial recognition according to IFRS 16.

The Group’s equity capital rose from € 4,521.5 million as of December 31, 2018 to € 4,614.7 million
on December 31, 2019. Due to the even stronger increase in the balance sheet total, however, the
equity ratio declined from 55.3% to 50.8%.

On August 14, 2019, the Management Board of United Internet AG resolved to launch a new share
buyback program. The decision was approved by the Supervisory Board. United Internet AG thus
utilized the authorization issued by the Company’s Annual Shareholders” Meeting of May 18, 2017 to
buy back treasury shares representing up to 10% of the Company's capital stock at the time of the
resolution or, if the amount is lower, at the time of exercising the authorization. The authorization
was issued for the period up to September 18, 2020 and had not been previously utilized. In the
course of the new share buyback program, up to six million Company shares (corresponding to
approx. 2.93% of capital stock at the time) were to be bought back. The volume of the share buyback
program amounted to € 192.0 million in total. The program was launched on August 16, 2019 and is to
be completed by March 31, 2020 at the latest by buying shares back via the stock exchange. In the
